

Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology Sending and Receiving Hedgehog Signals

Kostadin Petrov,* Bradley M. Wierbowski,* and Adrian Salic

Department of Cell Biology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts 02115; email: kpetrov@fas.harvard.edu, bwierbowski@fas.harvard.edu

Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 2017. 33:145-68

First published as a Review in Advance on July 10, 2017

The Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology is online at cellbio.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100616-060847

Copyright © 2017 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

*These authors contributed equally.



- Download figures as PPT slides
- Navigate linked references
 Download citations
- Explore related articles
- Search keywords

Keywords

signaling, development, embryo, ligand, morphogen, Hedgehog

Abstract

Communication between cells pervades the development and physiology of metazoans. In animals, this process is carried out by a relatively small number of signaling pathways, each consisting of a chain of biochemical events through which extracellular stimuli control the behavior of target cells. One such signaling system is the Hedgehog pathway, which is crucial in embryogenesis and is implicated in many birth defects and cancers. Although Hedgehog pathway components were identified by genetic analysis more than a decade ago, our understanding of the molecular mechanisms of signaling is far from complete. In this review, we focus on the biochemistry and cell biology of the Hedgehog pathway. We examine the unique biosynthesis of the Hedgehog ligand, its specialized release from cells into extracellular space, and the poorly understood mechanisms involved in ligand reception and pathway activation at the surface of target cells. We highlight several critical questions that remain open.

Contents

INTRODUCTION 146	
OUTLINE OF THE HEDGEHOG SIGNALING PATHWAY 147	
BIOSYNTHESIS OF THE HEDGEHOG LIGAND 149	
HEDGEHOG LIGAND RELEASE FROM CELLS 150	
The Role of Dispatched 150	
The Scube Family of Extracellular Chaperones 151	
Soluble Hedgehog Ligand Multimers 152	
Hedgehog Ligand Release by Lipoproteins and Extracellular Vesicles 152	
Hedgehog Ligand Transport Along Cytonemes 153	
HEDGEHOG LIGAND TRANSPORT 153	
The Role of Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycans 153	
Hhip: An Extracellular Hedgehog Ligand Antagonist 154	
THE FUNCTION OF CORECEPTORS IN HEDGEHOG	
LIGAND RECEPTION 154	
THE ROLE OF PATCHED IN HEDGEHOG SIGNALING 156	
Patched Repression of Smoothened 156	
Inhibition of Patched by Hedgehog Ligand 158	
ACTIVATION OF SMOOTHENED 159	

INTRODUCTION

The Hedgehog signaling pathway is a key communication system between metazoan cells. It is involved in all stages of an animal's life, from embryonic development to maintenance and regeneration of adult tissues. Thus, understanding Hedgehog signaling is crucial to understanding animal development and physiology and, beyond that, to harnessing its power in disease treatment and regenerative medicine.

In this review, we focus on the molecular mechanisms used by cells to send and receive Hedgehog signals (Figure 1). We follow the Hh ligand (Hh), from its unique biosynthesis, through its secretion from producing cells, to its reception by target cells. The bulk of the evidence that we cite comes from three model organisms in which the Hedgehog pathway is best understood: the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster*, the house mouse *Mus musculus*, and the zebrafish *Danio rerio*. Although Hedgehog signaling operates in all these organisms, evolutionary divergence has resulted in the expansion of certain protein families. For example, whereas fruit flies have one gene coding for one Hh, mice have three and zebrafish have six (see sidebar titled Hedgehog Ligand Homologs).

To avoid confusion, in cases in which the functional mechanism is conserved between homologs, we refer to the whole set by a single name and a single discussion. So, by Hh we designate all Hh homologs and discuss them as a unit. In cases in which the functional mechanism is known to, or is suspected to, diverge between homologs, we draw special distinction. This often occurs in the discussion of vertebrate and invertebrate homologs.

In addition to differences between homologs in different species, there appear to be some differences in the pathway's behavior in different tissues of the same organism. We note such differences when appropriate, but, as our goal is to outline the general principles of the pathway, the reader is advised to consult species- or tissue-specific literature for further details.

HEDGEHOG LIGAND HOMOLOGS

Whereas the genome of the fruit fly has a single gene coding for Hh, *hedgehog (bb)*, higher organisms have several. For example, the mouse has three orthologous Hh genes: *Sonic hedgehog (Sbb)*, *Desert hedgehog (Dbb)*, and *Indian hedgehog (Ibb)*. In zebrafish, due to a genome duplication event, there are as many as six paralogs: *sonic hedgehog a (sbha)*, *sonic hedgehog b or tiggywinkle hedgehog (sbhb/twbb)*, *indian hedgehog a (ibba)*, *indian hedgehog b or echidna hedgehog (abb)*, *qiqihar hedgehog (qbb)*, and *desert hedgehog (dbb)*. Sequence conservation and biochemical studies show that all these paralogous ligands are processed similarly, being modified with both palmitoyl and cholesteryl moieties. Thus, the differences between paralogs appear to be in the timing and location of expression. A number of excellent reviews summarize tissue-specific expression patterns and functions of these proteins (Ingham et al. 2011, Jeong & McMahon 2002, Varjosalo & Taipale 2008).

OUTLINE OF THE HEDGEHOG SIGNALING PATHWAY

Like other signaling pathways, the Hedgehog pathway consists of a chain of molecular events through which a signal produced by a cell (referred to as the sending cell) controls the behavior of another cell (termed the receiving cell). The sending cell synthesizes Hh and enables its extracellular release in a diffusible form. Once Hh leaves the sending cell, it travels through the extracellular milieu, reaching the surface of the receiving cell. There, Hh interacts with its coreceptor(s) and receptor Patched (Ptc), triggering an intracellular signal transduction cascade, which ultimately results in specific changes in gene expression. The mechanisms underlying Hh synthesis, release from cells, transport, and reception are remarkably complex and subject to numerous regulatory interactions.

Hh is modified with two lipids at its termini: an N-terminal palmitoyl moiety and a C-terminal cholesteryl moiety. The lipid modifications, particularly the cholesteryl moiety, render Hh highly hydrophobic, resulting in strong retention on the plasma membrane of sending cells. This feature of Hh would make it a poor intercellular signaling molecule were it not for a set of factors dedicated to its release. In both flies and vertebrates, the transmembrane protein Dispatched (Disp) is required for Hh release, likely by facilitating its extraction from the plasma membrane. Following interaction with Disp, Hh moves into the extracellular space, complexed with a chaperone. The chaperone ensures Hh solubility by shielding the hydrophobic cholesteryl and palmitoyl moieties from the aqueous environment. With its lipid appendages safely sequestered, Hh and its associated chaperone are then free to diffuse away from sending cells. A number of factors have been described as Hh chaperones, from the Scube family of proteins, to lipoprotein particles, to Hh itself.

Movement of Hh between cells is regulated by numerous factors, including extracellular matrix components [such as negatively charged heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs)] and cell surface proteins (Cdon/Ihog, Boc/Boi, Gas1, Hhip). In addition to regulating Hh spreading, Cdon/Ihog, Boc/Boi, and Gas1 also facilitate Hh reception as coreceptors. The cell surface protein Ptc ultimately acts as a receptor for Hh.

In contrast to most other ligand–receptor pairs, Hh represses rather than activates Ptc upon binding. Peculiarly, this repression of Ptc results in pathway activation. This is because unliganded Ptc inhibits the G protein–coupled receptor (GPCR)-like protein Smoothened (Smo) (Ingham & McMahon 2001), an essential activator of the cytoplasmic steps of Hedgehog signaling. When bound to Hh, Ptc no longer represses Smo, which leads to Smo activation. How Ptc represses Smo and how Hh represses Ptc are major open questions in the field. Once activated, Smo sets in

Lipoprotein particles: protein–lipid complexes that transport lipids systemically; composed of a lipid core surrounded by a phospholipid monolayer and apolipoproteins

Heparan sulfate:

a negatively charged linear polysaccharide

Heparan sulfate proteoglycan

(HSPG): a class of glycoproteins consisting of a protein core attached to heparan sulfate chains

G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR):

a class of seven-pass transmembrane proteins that activate heterotrimeric G proteins in response to ligand binding



motion the downstream steps in signal transduction, causing activation of the Zn-finger family of transcription factors that mediate all transcriptional effects of the Hh pathway, the Gli1–3 proteins in vertebrates, and the Ci protein in flies. The mechanisms involved in Gli/Ci regulation have been reviewed elsewhere (Huangfu & Anderson 2006). Below, we discuss the mechanisms of Hh synthesis, release, transport, and reception in more detail.

Hint/Hog: a protein domain homologous to self-splicing inteins and to the C-terminal domain of Hh proteins

BIOSYNTHESIS OF THE HEDGEHOG LIGAND

Hh is the only protein known to be covalently modified with palmitoyl and cholesteryl moieties. These posttranslational modifications are essential for the function of Hh and can occur independently (Buglino & Resh 2008, Chen et al. 2004), although whether in vivo they affect each other's efficiency is unclear (Creanga et al. 2012).

Hh is first synthesized as a two-domain precursor, comprising an N-terminal signaling domain, HhN, and a C-terminal Hint/Hog intein domain, HhC. The HhN domain is preceded by a signal sequence, which targets the precursor for cotranslational translocation into the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Removal of the signal sequence by a signal sequence protease leaves a conserved cysteine as the first amino acid in HhN, a residue critical for the palmitoylation reaction (Pepinsky et al. 1998). Palmitoylation is catalyzed by an ER-resident, membrane-bound, *O*-acyltransferase termed Skinny hedgehog (Ski) in flies (Amanai & Jiang 2001, Chamoun et al. 2001, Chen et al. 2004, Lee & Treisman 2001, Micchelli et al. 2002) and Hh acyltransferase (Hhat) in vertebrates (Buglino & Resh 2008, Konitsiotis et al. 2014). Hhat/Ski catalyzes a thioester exchange reaction between the thiol group of the N-terminal cysteine and palmitoyl-CoA. The cysteine thioester thus formed is thought to rearrange spontaneously via an S-to-N shift, whereby the Nα-amine of the cysteine attacks the neighboring thioester, resulting in a stable amide linkage between the palmitoyl moiety and HhN. Specificity of Hhat for HhN is encoded by a short, conserved sequence in HhN that follows the acceptor cysteine; as few as the first six amino acids of HhN are sufficient for Hhat-catalyzed palmitoylation (Buglino & Resh 2008).

Cholesterol modification is unique to Hh and is accomplished autocatalytically by the inteinlike activity of the HhC domain of the Hh precursor (Porter et al. 1996a,b). In a first step, the

Figure 1

Key biochemical and cellular events in the Hedgehog signaling pathway. (1) In sending cells, the Hedgehog ligand (Hh) is synthesized as a precursor, with an N-terminal signaling domain (HhN, green) and a C-terminal domain (HhC, purple). (2) Hh undergoes maturation in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Through the self-splicing activity of HhC, HhN is cleaved from the precursor and is covalently modified with cholesterol on its C terminus. HhC is then cleared by ER-associated degradation. HhN is also palmitoylated on its N terminus by the Hhat/Ski acyltransferase. (3) The dually lipidated mature ligand (Hh) is released from sending cell membranes by the synergistic action of Dispatched (Disp, orange) and an extracellular chaperone. Potential chaperones include Hh itself, lipoprotein particles, and the Scube family of proteins (top left) as well as extracellular vesicles (bottom left). (4) Hh moves through the space between sending and receiving cells (center) either as a diffusible signal (top) or associated with cellular extensions known as cytonemes (bottom). Extracellular Hh movement requires heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs, teal) and is controlled by the Hh coreceptors Cdon, Boc, and Gas1, as well as by the secreted protein Hhip. () In the absence of ligand, the Hedgehog pathway is inactive (top right, background cell): The Hh receptor Patched (Ptc, purple) is concentrated in the primary cilium, whereas the downstream transducer Smoothened (Smo, red) is sequestered in intracellular compartments (top right, background cell). (6) The pathway is activated upon Hh binding to Ptc, a process that requires the assistance of the Hh coreceptors. Hh binding directly inhibits Ptc, relieving its repression of Smo. Ptc bound to Hh then exits the cilium and is degraded while Smo accumulates in the cilium in the active form. Smo then causes activation of Gli transcription factors (purple) by relieving their inhibition by the cytoplasmic sequestration factor SuFu (gray). Active Gli proteins subsequently move to the nucleus and drive transcriptional activation of Hedgehog pathway target genes. Other abbreviations: CRD, cysteine-rich domain; EGF, epidermal growth factor; FnIII, fibronectin type III; GPI, glycophosphatidylinositol; Ig, immunoglobulin.

Protein disulfide isomerase (PDI): an ER-resident enzyme that remodels disulfide bridges to help protein folding in the secretory pathway thiol group of a catalytic cysteine located at the junction between HhN and HhC reacts with the preceding amide bond, forming an internal protein thioester, which serves as a C-terminally activated form of the HhN domain. In a second step, the 3β -OH group of a cholesterol molecule reacts with the thioester, cleaving the Hh precursor into cholesterylated HhN (in which cholesterol is attached to the C terminus of HhN via an ester linkage) and free HhC. The rate of the intein reaction is independent of Hh precursor concentration, suggesting that the reaction happens in *cis* (Porter et al. 1995). The structure-activity relationship for the modifying sterol shows significant flexibility, and many sterols besides cholesterol can drive Hh modification, as long as they possess a 3β -OH group (Cooper et al. 1998, Mann & Beachy 2000). Binding of the HhC intein to cholesterol is suspected to occur but has not been demonstrated. The presumed sterol-binding site is likely located within the last 60 residues of HhC, as HhC lacking this portion can undergo the first step (internal thioester formation), but not the second step (cholesterol attachment), of the modification reaction (Hall et al. 1997).

Interestingly, autocatalytic cleavage of the Hh precursor by HhC requires the activity of protein disulfide isomerases (PDIs) (Chen et al. 2011). PDIs are ER-resident enzymes that remodel disulfide bridges between cysteine residues to help protein folding in the secretory pathway (Wilkinson & Gilbert 2004). In the case of HhC, the catalytic cysteine first forms a disulfide bridge with another conserved cysteine in HhC; this bond may be required for proper folding of the HhC domain. PDIs then reduce the disulfide bond, making the thiol group of the catalytic cysteine available for the first step of the autoprocessing reaction.

HhC does not appear to have signaling activity, and its only function appears to be in HhN cholesterylation. In fact, after the autoprocessing reaction is completed, free HhC is cleared by ER-associated degradation (ERAD) (Chen et al. 2011). It is unclear how HhC is recognized as a substrate for ERAD, given that ERAD generally recognizes misfolded proteins. Disulfide bridge reduction, which precedes the autocatalytic reaction, may render HhC structurally unstable such that it is recognized by the ERAD machinery and degraded. Interestingly, the HhC domain can target the entire Hh precursor for ERAD. Thus, Hh precursor processing competes with Hh degradation in the ER, which has implications for the etiology of developmental diseases associated with mutations in the human *SHH* gene (Chen et al. 2011). These mutations reduce Hh signaling by impairing Hh cholesterylation, thus favoring Hh precursor degradation over Hh secretion. It remains to be determined whether competition between cholesterylation and ERAD plays a role during normal Hh signaling, perhaps as a mechanism by which cholesterol levels in the ER control the amount of generated ligand.

Dual-lipid modification makes Hh highly hydrophobic and therefore tightly associated with cell membranes. This property seems at odds with the ligand's well-established role in long-range signaling, raising two key questions: (*a*) How is Hh released from sending cells, and (*b*) how does Hh move between cells? In the next two sections, we describe how these processes are executed on a molecular level.

HEDGEHOG LIGAND RELEASE FROM CELLS

The Role of Dispatched

The transmembrane protein Disp is required for Hh-dependent tissue patterning, acting specifically in sending cells (Burke et al. 1999, Caspary et al. 2002, Etheridge et al. 2009, Kawakami et al. 2002, Ma et al. 2002, Nakano et al. 2004). Importantly, Disp is not required for Hh-dependent responses in receiving cells (Amanai & Jiang 2001, Ma et al. 2002, Tian et al. 2005), indicating that it has no role in downstream signal transduction. In the absence of Disp, sending cells express and process Hh correctly, but Hh accumulates on their surface (Burke et al. 1999, Kawakami et al. 2002, Ma et al. 2002), indicating a defect in ligand release. Interestingly, Disp is not required for signaling between sending cells and immediately adjacent receiving cells, indicating a functional distinction between juxtacrine and long-range Hh signaling processes.

Cholesterol modification of Hh is necessary and sufficient for Disp-dependent release (Burke et al. 1999, Ma et al. 2002, Nakano et al. 2004, Tian et al. 2005). Furthermore, Disp acts specifically on cholesterol anchors, as transmembrane- or glycophosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored variants of Hh are not released by Disp (Burke et al. 1999). Consistent with this specificity, cross-linking experiments using Hh modified with photoreactive cholesterol show that Disp interacts directly with the cholesteryl moiety (Tukachinsky et al. 2012). How Disp participates in Hh mobilization from membranes is unclear. An attractive model is that, in a first step, Disp acts catalytically to extract the cholesteryl anchor from the lipid bilayer. This mechanism is consistent with the homology between Disp and RND pumps of gram-negative bacteria (Ma et al. 2002, Tseng et al. 1999), which use the energy of the proton gradient across the periplasmic membrane to expel lipophilic small-molecule substrates from cells. Then, in a second step, Disp transfers Hh to an extracellular chaperone, ensuring that the cholesteryl anchor is moved without exposure to an aqueous environment; this is reminiscent of the handoff of cholesterol from Niemann-Pick disease protein C2 (NPC2) to Niemann-Pick disease protein C1 (NPC1) during cholesterol egress from lysosomes (Kwon et al. 2009).

It has been proposed that, in addition to playing a role in Hh release, Disp functions in Hh trafficking and sorting within sending cells, although the mechanism is unclear. Different studies report that Disp localizes Hh to either the apical surface (Gallet et al. 2003) or the basolateral surface (Callejo et al. 2011) of sending cells or that it directs Hh to either location indiscriminately (Burke et al. 1999, Etheridge et al. 2009). Disp was proposed to localize to the basolateral surface (Callejo et al. 2011), mediated by a region in its intracellular tail (Etheridge et al. 2009).

Although Disp may mediate Hh extraction from cell membranes, this activity is insufficient to allow for Hh release and transport between cells. This function is accomplished by extracellular Hh chaperones, which function downstream of Disp and solubilize Hh by shielding its lipid modifications. The first chaperones we discuss are the Scube family of vertebrate proteins. Next, we discuss Hh multimerization as a mechanism by which Hh may act as its own chaperone. We then examine the role of lipoprotein particles and extracellular vesicles as Hh chaperones. Finally, we discuss Hh transport at a distance along cellular projections known as cytonemes.

The Scube Family of Extracellular Chaperones

Genetic studies in zebrafish have identified the Scube family of secreted proteins as being implicated in Hedgehog signaling (Hollway et al. 2006, Johnson et al. 2012, Kawakami et al. 2005, van Eeden et al. 1996, Woods & Talbot 2005). Scube proteins are vertebrate specific, and most animals have three paralogs: Scube1–3. Because of functional redundancy, the paralogs are individually dispensable, but collectively they are strictly necessary for Hedgehog signaling in vivo. Epistasis analysis of Scube2 in zebrafish shows that it acts upstream of Hh reception, although transplantation experiments between wild-type and Scube2-null fish embryos indicate that neither sending nor receiving cells require Scube2 for proper signaling, provided that some Scube2-expressing cells are present in the affected signaling domain. These data suggest that Scube proteins act non-cell-autonomously between sending and receiving cells.

Scube proteins are composed of nine epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like repeats, a spacer, three cysteine-rich domains (CRDs), and a CUB domain. Biochemical experiments revealed that, in the presence of Disp, Scube2 enhances the release of Hh into aqueous solution (Creanga et al.

Glycophosphatidylinositol (GPI):

a glycolipid attached posttranslationally to the C terminus of certain proteins that anchors them to the plasma membrane

Resistance– nodulation–division (RND):

a class of multipass transmembrane proteins found in bacteria and eukaryotes; in gram-negative bacteria, RND proteins form trimers that localize to the inner bacterial membrane and use the proton-motive force across it to expel toxic ions or small molecules from cells

Extracellular

vesicles: implicated in transport between cells; can be derived from intraluminal vesicles of multivesicular bodies (exosomes) or formed by budding from the plasma membrane (ectosomes)

Cytonemes: thin, actin-based cellular projections that help relay signaling molecules between sending cells and receiving cells 2012, Tukachinsky et al. 2012) and that the CRDs and CUB domain are necessary for this activity. Scube2 interacts directly with the cholesteryl anchor of Hh (Tukachinsky et al. 2012), suggesting a simple mechanism for how Scube proteins solubilize Hh. It remains unclear how Disp and Scube2 cooperate during the handoff of Hh from the former to the latter.

Because Scube proteins are vertebrate specific, an open question is whether there exist functionally analogous proteins in invertebrates. One promising candidate is *Drosophila* Shifted, a secreted, EGF-like domain–containing protein required for long-range signaling by Hh (Glise et al. 2005, Gorfinkiel et al. 2005). Alternatively, the vertebrate and invertebrate pathways for Hh release may have diverged during evolution such that vertebrates use Scube proteins as Hh chaperones, whereas flies use alternative mechanisms (see below).

Soluble Hedgehog Ligand Multimers

A long-standing model for Hh release proposes that Hh overcomes the insolubility conferred by lipidation by acting as its own chaperone, forming multimers that shield the lipid moieties from the aqueous environment. This model is based on the observation of high-molecular weight species of Hh in media conditioned by Hh-expressing cells (Chen et al. 2004, Gallet et al. 2006, Goetz et al. 2006, Palm et al. 2013, Zeng et al. 2001). As the species initially observed was approximately 120 kDa in size, roughly six times the molecular weight of Hh, it was proposed that Hh forms a hexamer. However, the size of Hh species varies between different sources, from ~150 kDa for vertebrate Shh to greater than 600 kDa for *Drosophila* Hh (Chen et al. 2004). The wide range of observed sizes suggests that high-molecular weight Hh species may represent complexes between Hh and other proteins, rather than multimers of Hh. Determining the composition of high-molecular weight Hh species should help answer this question.

A direct role for Disp in the production of Hh multimers has not been established. Some studies propose that the multimeric Hh isolated biochemically may correspond to the large punctate structures in which Hh is observed by microscopy in vivo; such studies indirectly suggest a role for Disp in multimer release, as the large punctate structures appear to depend on Disp (Burke et al. 1999; Gallet et al. 2003, 2006; Porter et al. 1996a; Tabata & Kornberg 1994; Taylor et al. 1993). However, the structures may consist not of Hh multimers, but rather of Hh clustered by Hh-binding proteins (Vyas et al. 2008).

Hedgehog Ligand Release by Lipoproteins and Extracellular Vesicles

Hh can be efficiently released from cells by lipoprotein particles (Palm et al. 2013, Panáková et al. 2005), an effect perhaps driven by the interaction between lipids in the particles and lipid moieties of Hh. This interaction is not specific for Hh, as lipoproteins also release other lipidated ligands, such as Wnt proteins (Panáková et al. 2005). It is unclear, however, what role lipoproteins play in Hedgehog signaling, as they do not appear to be required for signaling in vivo (Panáková et al. 2005). It also remains to be determined whether and how release of Hh by lipoproteins requires Disp. Unexpectedly, Hh released by lipoproteins has low activity in signaling assays (Palm et al. 2013), and exogenous addition of lipoproteins inhibits Hh signaling. These findings raise the question of how Hh released on lipoproteins overcomes this inhibition.

Recently, several groups have proposed that, at least in flies, Hh is released loaded on extracellular vesicles (Gradilla et al. 2014, Matusek et al. 2014, Parchure et al. 2015). Supporting this model, in wing disks, punctate structures with extracellular Hh colocalize with CD63, a marker of extracellular vesicles (Gradilla et al. 2014). Immuno-electron microscopy of wing discs (Gradilla et al. 2014) and of high-speed pellets from Hh-conditioned media (Matusek et al. 2014) reveals vesicles containing Hh, Disp, and the Hh coreceptor Ihog. Such vesicles also contain exosomal markers and components of the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT). Furthermore, disruption of specific ESCRT proteins affects long-range Hh signaling in the wing disc and causes apical accumulation of Hh in sending cells. Although there is no agreement on the cellular compartment—plasma membrane or multivesicular bodies—from which these extracel-lular vesicles are derived, different studies propose a potential trafficking function for Disp in the biogenesis of Hh-containing exovesicles (Callejo et al. 2011, D'Angelo et al. 2015). Further study is required, particularly in vertebrate systems, to ascertain a role for Disp in the production of such extracellular vesicles and to confirm whether the isolated Hh-containing vesicles have signaling activity.

Hedgehog Ligand Transport Along Cytonemes

Cytonemes are long and thin (up to 200 μ m in length but only ~0.2 μ m in diameter) actinbased cellular extensions (Ramírez-Weber & Kornberg 1999). Cytonemes have been proposed to mediate Hh transport to distant cells on the basis of the observations that they project from the basal surface of sending cells in the *Drosophila* wing disc and that they host Hh, Disp, and Ihog (Callejo et al. 2011, Gradilla et al. 2014). Unlipidated HhN and inactive Disp are absent from cytonemes. Furthermore, functional experiments show a correlation between cytoneme length and range of Hh signaling, consistent with the idea that cytonemes mediate Hh transport. A recent study supports the claim that Hh is transported on cytonemes in vertebrates as well (Sanders et al. 2013), suggesting that this mechanism is general.

Although cytonemes may provide a solution to the problem of Hh transport at a distance, it is unclear how Hh moves from the cytonemal membrane to the surface of the receiving cell. It is not known whether Hh chaperones are implicated in this step. In *Drosophila*, Hh-positive exovesicles may associate with cytonemes and move along them (Gradilla et al. 2014), suggesting a role for vesicles in releasing Hh from cytonemes. Another possibility is that Hh transfer from cytonemes to receiving cells is similar to Hh movement between cells during juxtacrine Hh signaling, a process that remains poorly understood mechanistically.

HEDGEHOG LIGAND TRANSPORT

The Role of Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycans

On the way to distant receiving cells, Hh must traverse a dense extracellular environment. This transport process is thought to be facilitated by HSPGs (Bellaiche et al. 1998, Han et al. 2004, Lin et al. 2000, Rubin et al. 2002, The et al. 1999), which are glycoproteins containing one or more heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycan chains (Sarrazin et al. 2011). The role of HSPGs in Hedgehog signaling was discovered by examining mutants lacking specific glycosyltransferases and polymerases, enzymes responsible for heparan sulfate synthesis and transfer. For example, Hedgehog signaling is severely attenuated in fruit fly mutants lacking the glycosyltransferase *tout-velu (ttv)* or the UDP-glucose dehydrogenase *sugarless* (Bellaiche et al. 1998, Gallet et al. 2003, Häcker et al. 1997, The et al. 1999). Similar results are observed in tissues lacking exostoses, which are vertebrate homologs of *ttv* (Lin 2004, Lin et al. 2000).

Further evidence for the importance of HSPGs in Hedgehog signaling comes from examining mutants lacking the HSPG protein scaffold. In *Drosophila*, a cell-bound HSPG, the Dally-like glypican, is required for signaling in vivo and in vitro and has non-cell-autonomous as well as cell-autonomous roles (Desbordes & Sanson 2003, Gallet et al. 2008, Lum et al. 2003, Yan et al. 2010).

Endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT):

a set of cytoplasmic protein complexes that cooperate to drive membrane budding away from the cytosol, including biogenesis of multivesicular bodies

Multivesicular bodies:

endosomes containing intraluminal vesicles generated by inward budding of their limiting membrane

Glypican: a major class of HSPG that is membrane associated via a GPI anchor **FnIII:** fibronectin type III

In vertebrates, the glypicans GPC1, GPC4, and GPC6 promote Hedgehog signaling, whereas GPC2, GPC3, and GPC5 appear to inhibit signaling (Campos-Xavier et al. 2009, Capurro et al. 2008, Williams et al. 2010).

It is thought that HSPGs promote Hedgehog signaling by facilitating Hh transport between cells. This model is supported by two observations. First, Hh accumulates on the surface of cells in the absence of heparan sulfate synthesis (Bellaiche et al. 1998, Gallet et al. 2003, Han et al. 2004). Second, Hh binds heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycans (Chan et al. 2009, Chang et al. 2011, McLellan et al. 2006, Rubin et al. 2002, Whalen et al. 2013) with low-micromolar affinity.

The extent of coordination between Hh release and transport is unclear. Specifically, whether and how Hh chaperones interact with HSPGs and other components of the extracellular milieu are open questions.

Hhip: An Extracellular Hedgehog Ligand Antagonist

Whereas HSPGs facilitate extracellular Hh transport, the vertebrate protein Hhip antagonizes it (Chuang & McMahon 1999, Holtz et al. 2015, Kwong et al. 2014). Initially believed to be a transmembrane (Chuang & McMahon 1999) or GPI-anchored protein (Bosanac et al. 2009), Hhip was recently shown to be secreted and to associate with the extracellular matrix by binding HSPGs (Holtz et al. 2015). Hhip is composed of a basic CRD, a six-bladed beta propeller domain, and two EGF-like repeats. The CRD mediates binding to HSPGs, whereas the beta propeller domain binds vertebrate Shh (Bishop et al. 2009, Bosanac et al. 2009) with low-nanomolar affinity. The Hhip-binding surface of Shh overlaps with the surface thought to interact with the Ptc receptor, explaining why Hhip acts as a negative regulator of Hh signaling via ligand sequestration.

THE FUNCTION OF CORECEPTORS IN HEDGEHOG LIGAND RECEPTION

On the surface of receiving cells, Hh must ultimately bind to its receptor, Ptc. This process is facilitated by a set of membrane proteins known as Hh coreceptors, consisting of the immunoglobulin superfamily (IgSF) members Cdon/Ihog and Boc/Boi (Okada et al. 2006, Tenzen et al. 2006, Yao et al. 2006, Zhang et al. 2006) and the GPI-anchored protein Gas1 (Allen et al. 2007, Lee & Fan 2001, Martinelli & Fan 2007). IgSF coreceptors are found in both invertebrates (Ihog and Boi) and vertebrates (Cdon and Boc), whereas Gas1 is present only in vertebrates.

Coreceptors are collectively necessary for Hedgehog pathway activation (Allen et al. 2011, Camp et al. 2010, Yan et al. 2010, Zheng et al. 2010), but due to redundancy, they are individually dispensable. Further evidence for the role of coreceptors comes from experiments showing that their overexpression induces a cell-autonomous increase in Hh signaling both in vivo (Allen et al. 2011, Martinelli & Fan 2007, Tenzen et al. 2006) and in cell culture (Yao et al. 2006, Zhang et al. 2006). Importantly, cell-autonomous pathway activation depends on Hh, suggesting that the coreceptors facilitate ligand reception rather than promote downstream signaling through other mechanisms.

The IgSF coreceptors are type I transmembrane proteins. Their extracellular domains are composed of a variable number of Ig-like repeats, followed by fibronectin type III (FnIII) repeats. Binding between IgSF coreceptors and ligand is mediated by FnIII repeats. Surprisingly, Hh binds different FnIII repeats in different IgSF orthologs. For example, Hh binds to the first FnIII repeat in fruit fly Ihog (Yao et al. 2006, Zheng et al. 2010) and to the third FnIII repeat of vertebrate Cdon and Boc (Okada et al. 2006, Tenzen et al. 2006, Yao et al. 2006). Orthologous IgSF coreceptors

also differ in cofactor requirement for Hh binding: Ihog requires heparan sulfates (McLellan et al. 2006), whereas Cdon and Boc require calcium (McLellan et al. 2008).

Gas1 is a GPI-anchored membrane protein that consists of two CRDs (Cabrera et al. 2006, Rosti et al. 2015) followed by a flexible linker (Stebel et al. 2000). In contrast to binding between Hh and IgSF coreceptors, binding between Hh and Gas1 has not been thoroughly studied. A Gas1 point mutant defective in Hh binding has been identified (Pineda-Alvarez et al. 2011). Furthermore, mutagenesis experiments suggest that Gas1 likely binds a Hh surface different from the one bound by IgSF coreceptors, Ptc, and Hhip (Martinelli & Fan 2009).

In addition to binding Hh, the coreceptors also bind Ptc in both vertebrates and invertebrates. This interaction depends on the second FnIII repeat in Ihog (Zheng et al. 2010) and on the first and second FnIII repeats in Cdon/Boc (Izzi et al. 2011). Gas1 also binds Ptc, but which part of Gas1 is involved has not been defined. On the Ptc side, coreceptor binding requires the first extracellular loop of Ptc. Cdon/Boc and Gas1 appear to bind to the same site on Ptc, indicating that Ptc is bound either to an IgSF coreceptor or to Gas1 (Izzi et al. 2011). Interestingly, coreceptor binding to Ptc does not depend on Hh, suggesting that the coreceptors and Ptc may form a holocomplex, which may be the functionally relevant form of the Hh receptor in vivo (Zheng et al. 2010). Cdon and Boc, however, have not been observed at the primary cilium (Song et al. 2015) where Ptc localizes in vertebrates, suggesting that at least these two coreceptors are not constitutively associated with Ptc.

Experiments in *Drosophila* (Yao et al. 2006, Zheng et al. 2010) and mammalian cell culture (Martinelli & Fan 2007) show that coreceptors synergize with Ptc to promote Hh binding to cells. Ligand binding in the presence of both a coreceptor and Ptc is considerably greater than the sum of binding when only one is present; more strikingly, *Drosophila* Ptc does not bind ligand in the absence of Ihog (Yao et al. 2006). This synergistic binding activity requires both the Hh- and Ptc-binding domains of the coreceptor (Zheng et al. 2010), matching the requirements for coreceptor-mediated promotion of Hedgehog signaling in vivo (Song et al. 2015, Tenzen et al. 2006, Zheng et al. 2010) or in vitro (Bae et al. 2011). However, the mechanism underlying coreceptor-mediated binding of Hh to Ptc remains subject to debate. One complicating issue is that Ihog and Boi are required for proper surface presentation of Ptc (Zheng et al. 2010). In the absence of affinity measurements, it is thus unclear whether the observed synergistic binding represents an increase in affinity, as expected for a stable heteromeric coreceptor–Ptc complex, or an increase in the number of available binding sites, as expected if coreceptors promote Ptc localization to the cell surface.

Available data on the interaction between coreceptors, Hh, and Ptc suggest that different coreceptors have different mechanisms for promoting Hh signaling. Ihog/Boi (Beachy et al. 2010; McLellan et al. 2006, 2008) and Gas1 (Martinelli & Fan 2009) bind Hh through sites that do not overlap with the ligand's putative Ptc-binding site, consistent with formation of a ternary complex. In contrast, Cdon and Boc bind a site on Hh that overlaps with that bound by Ptc, and the FnIII domain of Cdon competes with Ptc for Hh binding (McLellan et al. 2008). These observations suggest that Cdon and Boc may compete for ligand with Ptc rather than directly facilitate Hh–Ptc binding. Thus, Cdon/Boc may facilitate Hh–Ptc binding indirectly, concentrating Hh on the membrane of receiving cells and thus increasing the likelihood of its productive interaction with Ptc. Consistent with such a mechanism, a chimeric coreceptor consisting of the first and second FnIII repeats of Cdon and the third FnIII repeat of Boc does not bind Ptc and yet promotes ectopic signaling in vivo (Song et al. 2015), raising the intriguing possibility that IgSF coreceptor function may be independent of physical association with Ptc.

Due to cell-autonomous and non-cell-autonomous effects, Hh-binding proteins like Ptc and the coreceptors affect Hh signaling in vivo in complex ways by affecting the distribution and

FEEDBACK IN HEDGEHOG SIGNALING

Transcriptional feedback controls are characteristic features of many signaling pathways. In the case of the Hedgehog pathway, most feedback control mechanisms are negative, limiting the magnitude of the evoked response. A number of positive regulators of the pathway [such as the vertebrate coreceptors Cdon, Boc (Tenzen et al. 2006), and Gas1 (Allen et al. 2007)] are transcriptionally inhibited by Hh stimulation; conversely, the negative regulators Ptc1 (Capdevila et al. 1994, Marigo & Tabin 1996), Ptc2 (Motoyama et al. 1998b, Rahnama et al. 2004), and Hhip (Chuang & McMahon 1999) are upregulated by signaling. Interestingly, all these feedback-regulated proteins bind Hh. Thus, this feedback regulates the sensitivity of responding cells to ligand and shapes the Hh morphogen gradient (Chen & Struhl 1996, Gallet & Therond 2005, Holtz et al. 2013, Torroja et al. 2004).

Although these feedbacks are known to have important roles in Hh-mediated patterning during embryogenesis, understanding their full effect will require quantitative study. Appropriate methods need to be developed to measure the distribution of Hh and that of its binding partners in time and space, as well as cellular responsiveness to Hh. Quantifying these parameters and then integrating them with the cellular movement characteristic of developing tissues are major challenges, yet such developments promise to yield key insights into the mechanisms of metazoan development and to provide clues to the evolution and diversity of metazoan body plans.

> potency of Hh. This complexity is compounded by transcriptional feedback control of the expression of these proteins. For more information, see sidebar titled Feedback in Hedgehog Signaling.

THE ROLE OF PATCHED IN HEDGEHOG SIGNALING

Ptc inhibits Smo, and Hedgehog signaling is triggered when Hh binds and inhibits Ptc, thereby derepressing Smo. The biochemical basis for these inhibitory interactions remains poorly understood. We discuss some recent findings pertaining to these processes.

Patched Repression of Smoothened

Initial models for Ptc function proposed that it inhibits Smo through direct binding and that ligand-induced disassociation of the complex results in Smo derepression (Goodrich & Scott 1998, Murone et al. 1999, Stone et al. 1996). This model was largely abandoned after it was found that Ptc and Smo have distinct subcellular distributions (Corbit et al. 2005, Denef et al. 2000, Huangfu & Anderson 2005, Rohatgi et al. 2007). In the absence of Hh, Ptc is distributed over the entire plasma membrane in *Drosophila* cells or is concentrated in the primary cilium in vertebrate cells. In unstimulated cells, Smo is degraded (in the case of *Drosophila* Smo) or is sequestered in an endomembrane compartment (in the case of vertebrate Smo). Upon pathway stimulation by Hh, Ptc is endocytosed and degraded, leading to Smo accumulation over the entirety of the plasma membrane (*Drosophila*) or just in cilia (vertebrates).

Currently, it is thought that Ptc acts as an ion-driven pump to inhibit Smo activity, perhaps by transporting a metabolite. This model is consistent with two observations. First, Ptc shares some similarity with bacterial RND permeases, which use proton gradients across the plasma membrane to pump toxic substances out of cells (Li & Nikaido 2009, Tseng et al. 1999). Second, small amounts of Ptc are sufficient to inhibit Smo, suggesting that Ptc acts in a catalytic manner (Ingham et al. 2000, Taipale et al. 2002). Ptc and bacterial RND proteins share a conserved topology, with 12 transmembrane helixes (TMs) and an extracellular domain consisting of two large loops (loop 1 between TM1 and TM2 and loop 2 between TM6 and TM7). Although the primary sequence of Ptc and RND proteins diverges substantially, TM4 harbors a conserved GxxxDD motif, where x symbolizes amino acids A/V/G/L/I. Crucially, the first aspartate residue of the motif is required for function in both Ptc and RND proteins (Su et al. 2006, Taipale et al. 2002, Yu et al. 2003). In the case of RND pumps, the aspartate is part of a proton relay network. Protonation/deprotonation of the aspartate side chain is coupled to conformational changes in the rest of the protein such that substrates are bound or released, coupling proton conductance to substrate pumping (Pos 2009, Seeger et al. 2006). Bacterial RND permeases are trimers, and Ptc also appears to form oligomers. This is indicated by the observations that Ptc monomers coimmunoprecipitate with each other (Lu et al. 2006) and that loss-of-function Ptc mutants act as dominant negatives toward wild-type Ptc (Johnson et al. 2000, Martín et al. 2001).

The hypothesis that Ptc functions as an ion-driven small-molecule pump to inhibit Smo is attractive because it is also consistent with the idea of Smo regulation by an endogenous metabolite. It has been proposed that, in vertebrates, Ptc uses the energy of a proton gradient to expel vitamin D3 or provitamin D3 from cells and that vitamin D3 or provitamin D3 would then bind and inhibit Smo (Bijlsma et al. 2006, Roberts et al. 2016). Although it is formally possible that Ptc regulates Smo by supplying it with an inhibitor, this model conflicts with a number of observations. First, there is no proton-motive force across the plasma membrane of vertebrate cells. Second, other reports did not confirm inhibition of vertebrate Smo by vitamin D3 or provitamin D3 (Sever et al. 2016, Wilson et al. 2009). Third, vertebrate Smo appears to require a small-molecule activator rather than an inhibitor (Cooper et al. 2003).

Another model, based on studies in flies, proposes that *Drosophila* Ptc inhibits *Drosophila* Smo by regulating trafficking of lipoprotein-derived lipids (Callejo et al. 2008, Eaton 2008, Khaliullina et al. 2009, Panáková et al. 2005). Specifically, Ptc would mediate the export of a lipid factor that is necessary for inhibition and/or degradation of Smo. This model is consistent with the observation that, in *Drosophila*, Smo levels are low in the presence of Ptc and rapidly increase upon pathway stimulation (Denef et al. 2000, Zhu et al. 2003). The model is also consistent with the fact that the C-terminal tail of *Drosophila* Ptc, which is necessary for its endocytosis (Johnson et al. 2000, Lu et al. 2006), is also important for *Drosophila* Smo repression. A key prediction of this model is that endocytosis of Ptc is necessary for Smo repression; however, blocking endocytosis does not result in pathway activation (Torroja et al. 2004). Also significant is that modulating lipoprotein levels affects *Drosophila* Smo levels but is accompanied by only a modest effect on Hedgehog target gene expression (Callejo et al. 2008, Khaliullina et al. 2009, Panáková et al. 2005).

On the whole, the mechanism by which Ptc represses Smo remains unclear. Any proposed model would have to account for the observed conservation between Ptc and RND permeases and for the high potency of Ptc as a Smo repressor. Additionally, a model for Ptc should be consistent with established mechanisms of Smo regulation, such as the key role of the CRD of Smo and its associated ligand(s) (see section titled Activation of Smoothened). The mechanism of Smo regulation by Ptc may differ between invertebrates and vertebrates. One indication of divergence is the differential requirement of the cytoplasmic tail of Ptc, which is required for pathway repression in *Drosophila* but is dispensable in vertebrates (Harvey et al. 2014, Johnson et al. 2000). Some conserved residues are also differentially required for activity: D584 in *Drosophila* Ptc is necessary for pathway repression, whereas the homologous D585 in mouse Ptc1 is dispensable (Johnson et al. 2002).

Inhibition of Patched by Hedgehog Ligand

Soon after the *bh* and *ptc* genes were identified and cloned (Goodrich et al. 1996, Hooper & Scott 1989, Ingham et al. 1991, Lee et al. 1992, Nakano et al. 1989, Roelink et al. 1994, Tabata & Kornberg 1994), it was discovered that Hh directly binds the extracellular domain of Ptc with lownanomolar affinity (Briscoe et al. 2001, Chen & Struhl 1996, Fuse et al. 1999, Marigo et al. 1996, Pepinsky et al. 2000, Stone et al. 1996). The Ptc-binding surface of Hh is thought to overlap with the surface that binds Cdon/Boc, Hhip, and the inhibitory antibody 5E1 (Beachy et al. 2010, Maun et al. 2010). Binding to Ptc requires the globular part of Hh (residues around the pseudoactive zinc hydrolase site) and a stretch of residues located within a 22-amino-acid extended N-terminal peptide of Hh (Fuse et al. 1999, Hall et al. 1995, Pepinsky et al. 2000, Tukachinsky et al. 2016, Williams et al. 1999).

Palmitoylation of Hh is critical for Ptc inhibition, as shown by experiments in which palmitoylation was blocked by genetic inactivation of Hhat/Ski (Chamoun et al. 2001, Konitsiotis et al. 2014), by pharmacological inhibition of Hhat (Petrova et al. 2013), or by mutation of the acceptor cysteine in Hh (Goetz et al. 2006, Pepinsky et al. 1998). Consistent with these observations, unpalmitoylated Shh is much less potent than palmitoylated Shh (Dawber et al. 2005, Kohtz et al. 2001, Lee et al. 2001). Additionally, a Shh mutant lacking palmitoylation and the first nine amino acid residues (Shh Δ 9) is completely inactive. Strikingly, Shh Δ 9 binds Ptc with the same high affinity as does palmitoylated Shh and, moreover, acts as a dominant-negative inhibitor toward the latter (Williams et al. 1999). This finding indicates that the palmitoylated N-terminal peptide of Shh is required for Ptc inhibition at a step downstream of high-affinity binding.

Recently, a short, palmitoylated N-terminal peptide of Shh was shown to be sufficient for Ptc inhibition and Hedgehog pathway activation (Tukachinsky et al. 2016). The peptide inhibits Ptc by direct binding, including a contact between the palmitoyl moiety and Ptc. This interaction is separable from the high-affinity binding of Ptc to the rest of Shh, indicating a two-pronged contact between Shh and Ptc, reminiscent of the interaction observed between palmitoylated Wnt and Frizzled (Fz) (Janda et al. 2012). Interestingly, although the palmitoylated peptide mimics Shh by inhibiting Ptc, it differs from Shh in its effect on Ptc trafficking and turnover. Shh induces Ptc endocytosis (Incardona et al. 2000) and degradation, whereas the palmitoylated peptide does not (Tukachinsky et al. 2016). Thus, internalization and inhibition of Ptc are separable, and internalization is dispensable for Ptc inhibition. This conclusion is consistent with in vivo experiments that show that Ptc endocytosis is not required for pathway activation by Hh (Torroja et al. 2004). Interestingly, Shh Δ 9 induces Ptc internalization, but not pathway activation, suggesting that internalization alone is not sufficient for inhibition; perhaps internalization is not complete, and Ptc left on the cell surface is sufficient for Smo repression.

The fact that Ptc bound to the palmitoylated peptide is inactive but not internalized suggests that it may adopt a conformation distinct from unliganded Ptc (which is active and on the cell surface) and from Shh-bound Ptc (which is inactive and internalized). Furthermore, the palmitoylated peptide does not bind point mutants of Ptc that cause Gorlin cancer syndrome and that have greatly reduced activity; this observation is consistent with these disease mutants adopting a conformation different from that of wild-type Ptc. Together, these results suggest the possibility that Ptc, like RND permeases, undergoes conformational cycling as part of its Smo-repressing function. In this model, inhibition of Ptc by Hh or by oncogenic mutations would result from conformational trapping, which interrupts normal cycling.

Significantly, there are contexts in which palmitoylation of Hh is not absolutely required for pathway activation, such as in some tissue explant experiments or in vivo (Kohtz et al. 2001, Lee et al. 2001, Roelink et al. 1995); this dispensability may be due to the higher sensitivity of some

tissues to Hh. For example, in tissues expressing less Ptc, ligand-induced internalization, which does not require ligand palmitoylation, may lower surface Ptc levels enough to trigger Hh pathway activation.

In contrast to *Drosophila*, which has one Ptc gene, vertebrate genomes have two orthologs: Ptc1 and Ptc2 (Carpenter et al. 1998, Motoyama et al. 1998b). The two proteins are very similar in sequence and behave similarly with respect to inhibition of Smo and response to Hh (Alfaro et al. 2014, Holtz et al. 2013, Klein et al. 2016, Lee et al. 2006, Zhulyn et al. 2015). However, Ptc1 is clearly the major regulator of Smo in vivo, as Ptc2 seems to be less potent and is expressed at much lower levels than Ptc1 (Motoyama et al. 1998a,b).

ACTIVATION OF SMOOTHENED

Smo belongs to class F/class 6 of the seven-transmembrane (7TM) superfamily of receptors, which includes Fz proteins. This class contains an N-terminal CRD, which, in the case of Fz proteins, binds Wnt ligands. It has long been thought that Smo is regulated by an endogenous ligand, like other 7TM receptors. Consistent with the existence of an endogenous ligand, vertebrate Smo harbors at least two separable small-molecule-binding sites: one in the CRD and the other in the 7TM domain. A number of crystal structures of Smo homologs were recently published: some of the isolated CRD (Huang et al. 2016, Nachtergaele et al. 2013, Rana et al. 2013), some of the 7TM portion of the protein (Wang et al. 2013, 2014; Weierstall et al. 2014), and one of the CRD together with the 7TM domain (Byrne et al. 2016). These structures have shed light on ligand binding and recognition by the two sites in Smo and on the nature of the endogenous ligand.

The Smo CRD fold is similar to that of the Frizzled 8 (Fz8) CRD. Both CRDs are stabilized by five disulfide bridges, and both feature homologous hydrophobic binding grooves that serve as ligand-binding sites. In the case of the Fz8 CRD, the groove is the binding site for the palmitoyl moiety of Wnt (Janda et al. 2012), whereas in the Smo CRD, the site binds sterols [such as cholesterol and 20(*S*)-hydroxycholesterol] or sterol-like molecules (such as cyclopamine and 22-azacholesterol) (Byrne et al. 2016, Huang et al. 2016, Nachtergaele et al. 2013, Nedelcu et al. 2013).

The transmembrane helices of Smo pack in a manner similar to that of class A/class 1 GPCRs. The 7TM domain of vertebrate Smo harbors a second small-molecule-binding site, which can be occupied by a large number of structurally diverse antagonists and agonists. Notable examples of Smo antagonists that bind the 7TM site are SANT-1, cyclopamine, and vismodegib, the last finding application in the clinic as an anticancer drug. An example of a 7TM-binding agonist is the synthetic small-molecule SAG (Chen et al. 2002). Although crystal structures of the Smo 7TM domain in complex with agonists and antagonists have been solved (Byrne et al. 2016, Wang & Pernow 2002, Wang et al. 2013), it is not yet clear how these small molecules modulate Smo, as no large conformational changes have been observed between agonist- and antagonist-bound structures.

For vertebrate Smo, several lines of evidence suggest that the endogenous ligand is likely an activating sterol. First, sterols are necessary for Smo activation, as shown by nonspecific sterol depletion and by inhibition of cholesterol biosynthesis (Cooper et al. 2003). Second, some oxysterols, such as 20(*S*)-hydroxycholesterol, activate Hh signaling at the level of Smo (Corcoran & Scott 2006, Dwyer et al. 2007). Activation of Smo by sterols is mediated by their interaction with the CRD (Nachtergaele et al. 2013, Nedelcu et al. 2013), and sterol binding to the CRD correlates well with activation of the Hedgehog pathway. Finally, blocking sterol–CRD binding by mutations in Smo (Byrne et al. 2016, Huang et al. 2016, Nachtergaele et al. 2013, Nedelcu et al. 2013), or pharmacologically (Nedelcu et al. 2013), inhibits Smo activation by Hh.

Cyclopamine:

a natural steroidal alkaloid antagonist of Smo; named for its cyclopia-causing teratogenic effect

SANT-1: a synthetic Smo antagonist

Vismodegib:

a synthetic Smo antagonist developed by Genentech for treatment of basal cell carcinoma; the first FDA-approved Hedgehog pathway antagonist

SAG: a synthetic Smo agonist

Although oxysterols, and particularly 20(*S*)-hydroxycholesterol, can activate Smo, they are present in cells at much lower levels than is necessary for activation (Myers et al. 2013), making them unlikely candidates for endogenous ligands. Recent studies indicate that cholesterol is the endogenous activating ligand for vertebrate Smo. Cholesterol binds the Smo CRD and activates Hedgehog signaling (Byrne et al. 2016, Huang et al. 2016); the binding constant for the Smo CRD– cholesterol interaction is well within the range of endogenous cholesterol levels. Furthermore, cholesterol, but not oxysterols, synergizes with Hh to activate Smo and Hedgehog signaling (Huang et al. 2016). Finally, CRD mutants of Smo, which are resistant to activation by oxysterols, remain sensitive to activation by cholesterol and to Hh (Huang et al. 2016, Luchetti et al. 2016).

An interesting question is whether the 7TM ligand-binding site of Smo is involved in Hedgehog signaling, particularly because no endogenous ligands are known to bind to it. Mutants of the 7TM site of Smo that completely abolish binding of several different synthetic ligands (both agonists and antagonists) still respond to Hh and to sterols (Huang et al. 2016). Although a hypothetical endogenous ligand might bind to the mutated 7TM site, these results suggest that the 7TM site likely does not participate in Smo regulation during normal Hedgehog signaling. The 7TM site, despite its doubtful physiological role, has proven very useful for developing highly potent small-molecule inhibitors of Smo.

The case for a ligand for *Drosophila* Smo is less clear than for vertebrate Smo. Although the CRD of *Drosophila* Smo is necessary for Hedgehog signaling (Aanstad et al. 2009), there is currently no sterol that is known to be necessary and/or sufficient for activation. Glucocorticoids were proposed to bind the CRD of *Drosophila* Smo (Rana et al. 2013); if so, functional experiments will be needed to determine whether this class of molecules modulates *Drosophila* Smo activity. Alternatively, the activating ligand for *Drosophila* Smo may not be a sterol, or else the protein may not require a small-molecule ligand for its activation.

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. The Hedgehog ligand is modified with both palmitoyl and cholesteryl moieties, causing it to attach strongly to membranes.
- The Hedgehog ligand requires the membrane protein Dispatched and extracellular chaperones for release from producing cells and for long-range signaling.
- 3. The Hedgehog ligand binds heparan sulfate proteoglycans, which are required for its extracellular movement.
- 4. Extracellular distribution of the Hedgehog ligand is negatively regulated by its binding to its membrane receptor, Patched, and to the secreted antagonist Hhip.
- In the absence of ligand, Patched inhibits Hedgehog signaling by repressing the downstream seven-transmembrane protein Smoothened.
- The Hedgehog ligand activates signaling by binding and inhibiting Patched, thus derepressing Smoothened.
- 7. The coreceptors Cdon/Ihog, Boc/Boi, and Gas1 cooperate with Patched for ligand reception and are collectively necessary for Hedgehog pathway activation.
- 8. Smoothened is activated by an endogenous ligand via its extracellular domain; in vertebrates, the Smoothened ligand is cholesterol.

FUTURE ISSUES

- 1. What is the mechanism of Dispatched-catalyzed Hedgehog ligand release?
- 2. What is the role of various factors proposed to function as extracellular chaperones for the Hedgehog ligand? To what extent are different chaperones unique to model systems or signaling contexts? How do these chaperones interface with downstream factors involved in Hedgehog ligand transport and reception?
- 3. How can we employ cell culture, genetic, and biochemical approaches to study movement of Hedgehog ligands in a more tractable, in vitro system?
- 4. How do Hedgehog coreceptors cooperate with Patched to facilitate ligand reception? Do coreceptors perform redundant or unique roles?
- 5. What molecular features distinguish Hedgehog coreceptors from Hedgehog antagonists? What determines whether a Hedgehog-binding protein potentiates or inhibits signaling?
- 6. How does Patched inhibit Smoothened? What are the substrate and source of energy for Patched?
- 7. How is the Smoothened-cholesterol interaction regulated?
- 8. How does Smoothened couple to downstream Hedgehog pathway activation?

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

B.M.W. is supported by NIH predoctoral fellowship 1F31GM120833. This work was supported by NIH grants R01 GM092924 and GM110041 to A.S.

LITERATURE CITED

- Aanstad P, Santos N, Corbit KC, Scherz PJ, Trinh LA, et al. 2009. The extracellular domain of Smoothened regulates ciliary localization and is required for high-level Hh signaling. *Curr. Biol.* 19(12):1034–39
- Alfaro AC, Roberts B, Kwong L, Bijlsma MF, Roelink H. 2014. Ptch2 mediates the Shh response in Ptch1^{-/-} cells. Development 141(17):3331–39
- Allen BL, Song JY, Izzi L, Althaus IW, Kang J-S, et al. 2011. Overlapping roles and collective requirement for the coreceptors GAS1, CDO, and BOC in SHH pathway function. *Dev. Cell* 20(6):775–87
- Allen BL, Tenzen T, McMahon AP. 2007. The Hedgehog-binding proteins Gas1 and Cdo cooperate to positively regulate Shh signaling during mouse development. *Genes Dev.* 21(10):1244–57
- Amanai K, Jiang J. 2001. Distinct roles of Central missing and Dispatched in sending the Hedgehog signal. Development 128(24):5119–27
- Bae G, Domené S, Roessler E, Schachter K, Kang J, et al. 2011. Mutations in CDON, encoding a hedgehog receptor, result in holoprosencephaly and defective interactions with other hedgehog receptors. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 89(2):231–40
- Beachy PA, Hymowitz SG, Lazarus RA, Leahy DJ, Siebold C. 2010. Interactions between Hedgehog proteins and their binding partners come into view. *Genes Dev.* 24(18):2001–12

Demonstrates that Cdo, Boc, and Gas1 are together necessary for vertebrate Hedgehog signaling.

Describes the identification of small-molecule agonists and antagonists of vertebrate Smoothened.

Identifies Dispatched as

an RND family protein

necessary for Hedgehog

ligand secretion and

long-range signaling.

Reports the crystal

in complex with

cholesterol.

structure of full-length

vertebrate Smoothened

- Bellaiche Y, The I, Perrimon N. 1998. Tout-velu is a Drosophila homologue of the putative tumour suppressor EXT-1 and is needed for Hh diffusion. Nature 394(6688):85–88
- Bijlsma MF, Spek CA, Zivkovic D, van de Water S, Rezaee F, Peppelenbosch MP. 2006. Repression of smoothened by patched-dependent (pro-)vitamin D3 secretion. PLOS Biol. 4(8):e232
- Bishop B, Aricescu AR, Harlos K, O'Callaghan CA, Jones EY, Siebold C. 2009. Structural insights into hedgehog ligand sequestration by the human hedgehog-interacting protein HHIP. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 16(7):698–703
- Bosanac I, Maun HR, Scales SJ, Wen X, Lingel A, et al. 2009. The structure of SHH in complex with HHIP reveals a recognition role for the Shh pseudo active site in signaling. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 16(7):691–97
- Briscoe J, Chen Y, Jessell TM, Struhl G. 2001. A Hedgehog-insensitive form of patched provides evidence for direct long-range morphogen activity of Sonic hedgehog in the neural tube. *Mol. Cell* 7(6):1279–91
- Buglino JA, Resh MD. 2008. Hhat is a palmitoylacyltransferase with specificity for N-palmitoylation of Sonic hedgehog. J. Biol. Chem. 283(32):22076–88
- Burke R, Nellen D, Bellotto M, Hafen E, Senti K-A, et al. 1999. Dispatched, a novel sterol-sensing domain protein dedicated to the release of cholesterol-modified Hedgehog from signaling cells. *Cell* 99(7):803–15
- Byrne EFX, Sircar R, Miller PS, Hedger G, Luchetti G, et al. 2016. Structural basis of Smoothened regulation by its extracellular domains. *Nature* 535(7613):517–22
- Cabrera JR, Sanchez-Pulido L, Rojas AM, Valencia A, Mañes S, et al. 2006. Gas1 is related to the glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor family of receptors α and regulates Ret signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281(20):14330–39
- Callejo A, Bilioni A, Mollica E, Gorfinkiel N, Andrés G, et al. 2011. Dispatched mediates Hedgehog basolateral release to form the long-range morphogenetic gradient in the *Drosophila* wing disk epithelium. *PNAS* 108(31):12591–98
- Callejo A, Culi J, Guerrero I. 2008. Patched, the receptor of Hedgehog, is a lipoprotein receptor. *PNAS* 105(3):912–17
- Camp D, Currie K, Labbé A, van Meyel DJ, Charron F. 2010. Ihog and Boi are essential for Hedgehog signaling in *Drosophila*. *Neural Dev.* 5:28
- Campos-Xavier AB, Martinet D, Bateman J, Belluoccio D, Rowley L, et al. 2009. Mutations in the heparansulfate proteoglycan glypican 6 (GPC6) impair endochondral ossification and cause recessive omodysplasia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 84(6):760–70
- Capdevila J, Estrada MP, Sánchez-Herrero E, Guerrero I. 1994. The *Drosophila* segment polarity gene *patched* interacts with decapentaplegic in wing development. *EMBO J*. 13(1):71–82
- Capurro MI, Xu P, Shi W, Li F, Jia A, Filmus J. 2008. Glypican-3 inhibits Hedgehog signaling during development by competing with patched for Hedgehog binding. *Dev. Cell* 14(5):700–711
- Carpenter D, Stone DM, Brush J, Ryan A, Armanini M, et al. 1998. Characterization of two patched receptors for the vertebrate hedgehog protein family. *PNAS* 95(23):13630–34
- Caspary T, García-García MJ, Huangfu D, Eggenschwiler JT, Wyler MR, et al. 2002. Mouse Dispatched homolog1 is required for long-range, but not juxtacrine, Hh signaling. *Curr. Biol.* 12(18):1628–32
- Chamoun Z, Mann RK, Nellen D, von Kessler DP, Bellotto M, et al. 2001. Skinny Hedgehog, an acyltransferase required for palmitoylation and activity of the Hedgehog signal. *Science* 293(5537):2080–84
- Chan JA, Balasubramanian S, Witt RM, Nazemi KJ, Choi Y, et al. 2009. Proteoglycan interactions with Sonic hedgehog specify mitogenic responses. Nat. Neurosci. 12(4):409–17
- Chang S-C, Mulloy B, Magee AI, Couchman JR. 2011. Two distinct sites in Sonic hedgehog combine for heparan sulfate interactions and cell signaling functions. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286(52):44391–402
- Chen JK, Taipale J, Young KE, Maiti T, Beachy PA. 2002. Small molecule modulation of Smoothened activity. *PNAS* 99(22):14071–76
- Chen M-H, Li Y-J, Kawakami T, Xu S-M, Chuang P-T. 2004. Palmitoylation is required for the production of a soluble multimeric Hedgehog protein complex and long-range signaling in vertebrates. *Genes Dev.* 18(6):641–59
- Chen X, Tukachinsky H, Huang C-H, Jao C, Chu Y-R, et al. 2011. Processing and turnover of the Hedgehog protein in the endoplasmic reticulum. *J. Cell Biol.* 192(5):825–38

Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 2017.33:145-168. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org Access provided by Texas Tech University - Lubbock on 01/07/18. For personal use only.

Chen Y, Struhl G. 1996. Dual roles for Patched in sequestering and transducing Hedgehog. Cell 87(3):553-63

- Chuang PT, McMahon AP. 1999. Vertebrate Hedgehog signalling modulated by induction of a Hedgehogbinding protein. *Nature* 397(6720):617–21
- Cooper MK, Porter JA, Young KE, Beachy PA. 1998. Teratogen-mediated inhibition of target tissue response to Shh signaling. *Science* 280(5369):1603–7
- Cooper MK, Wassif CA, Krakowiak PA, Taipale J, Gong R, et al. 2003. A defective response to Hedgehog signaling in disorders of cholesterol biosynthesis. *Nat. Genet.* 33(4):508–13
- Corbit KC, Aanstad P, Singla V, Norman AR, Stainier DYR, Reiter JF. 2005. Vertebrate Smoothened functions at the primary cilium. *Nature* 437(7061):1018–21
- Corcoran RB, Scott MP. 2006. Oxysterols stimulate Sonic hedgehog signal transduction and proliferation of medulloblastoma cells. PNAS 103(22):8408–13
- Creanga A, Glenn TD, Mann RK, Saunders AM, Talbot WS, Beachy PA. 2012. Scube/You activity mediates release of dually lipid-modified Hedgehog signal in soluble form. *Genes Dev.* 26(12):1312–25
- D'Angelo G, Matusek T, Pizette S, Therond PP. 2015. Endocytosis of Hedgehog through Dispatched regulates long-range signaling. *Dev. Cell* 32(3):290–303
- Dawber RJ, Hebbes S, Herpers B, Docquier F, van den Heuvel M. 2005. Differential range and activity of various forms of the Hedgehog protein. BMC Dev. Biol. 5:21
- Denef N, Neubüser D, Pérez L, Cohen SM. 2000. Hedgehog induces opposite changes in turnover and subcellular localization of Patched and Smoothened. *Cell* 102(4):521–31
- Desbordes SC, Sanson B. 2003. The glypican Dally-like is required for Hedgehog signalling in the embryonic epidermis of *Drosophila*. *Development* 130(25):6245–55
- Dwyer JR, Sever N, Carlson M, Nelson SF, Beachy PA, Parhami F. 2007. Oxysterols are novel activators of the Hedgehog signaling pathway in pluripotent mesenchymal cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282(12):8959–68
- Eaton S. 2008. Multiple roles for lipids in the Hedgehog signalling pathway. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 9(6):437–45
- Etheridge LA, Crawford TQ, Zhang S, Roelink H. 2009. Evidence for a role of vertebrate Disp1 in long-range Shh signaling. *Development* 137(1):133–40
- Fuse N, Maiti T, Wang B, Porter JA, Hall TM, et al. 1999. Sonic hedgehog protein signals not as a hydrolytic enzyme but as an apparent ligand for Patched. PNAS 96(20):10992–99
- Gallet A, Rodriguez R, Ruel L, Therond PP. 2003. Cholesterol modification of Hedgehog is required for trafficking and movement, revealing an asymmetric cellular response to Hedgehog. *Dev. Cell* 4(2):191–204
- Gallet A, Ruel L, Staccini-Lavenant L, Therond PP. 2006. Cholesterol modification is necessary for controlled planar long-range activity of Hedgehog in *Drosophila* epithelia. *Development* 133(3):407–18
- Gallet A, Staccini-Lavenant L, Therond PP. 2008. Cellular trafficking of the glypican Dally-like is required for full-strength Hedgehog signaling and wingless transcytosis. *Dev. Cell* 14(5):712–25
- Gallet A, Therond PP. 2005. Temporal modulation of the Hedgehog morphogen gradient by a Patcheddependent targeting to lysosomal compartment. *Dev. Biol.* 277(1):51–62
- Glise B, Miller CA, Crozatier M, Halbisen MA, Wise S, et al. 2005. Shifted, the *Drosophila* ortholog of Wnt inhibitory factor-1, controls the distribution and movement of Hedgehog. *Dev. Cell* 8(2):255–66
- Goetz JA, Singh S, Suber LM, Kull FJ, Robbins DJ. 2006. A highly conserved amino-terminal region of Sonic hedgehog is required for the formation of its freely diffusible multimeric form. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281(7):4087–93
- Goodrich LV, Johnson RL, Milenkovic L, McMahon JA, Scott MP. 1996. Conservation of the hedgehog/ patched signaling pathway from flies to mice: induction of a mouse patched gene by Hedgehog. *Genes Dev.* 10(3):301–12
- Goodrich LV, Scott MP. 1998. Hedgehog and Patched in neural development and disease. Neuron 21(6):1243– 57
- Gorfinkiel N, Sierra J, Callejo A, Ibañez C, Guerrero I. 2005. The Drosophila ortholog of human Wnt inhibitory factor Shifted controls the diffusion of lipid-modified Hedgehog. Dev. Cell 8(2):241–53
- Gradilla A-C, González E, Seijo I, Andrés G, Bischoff M, et al. 2014. Exosomes as Hedgehog carriers in cytoneme-mediated transport and secretion. *Nat. Commun.* 5:5649

Describes an additional role for Patched in controlling the extracellular concentration gradient of Hedgehog ligand. Elucidates the structure

of the Xenopus laevis

cysteine-rich domain

bound to sterols and

a natural ligand.

Demonstrates that primary cilia are

required for vertebrate

Hedgehog signaling.

identifies cholesterol as

Smoothened

- Häcker U, Lin X, Perrimon N. 1997. The *Drosophila sugarless* gene modulates Wingless signaling and encodes an enzyme involved in polysaccharide biosynthesis. *Development* 124(18):3565–73
- Hall TM, Porter JA, Beachy PA, Leahy DJ. 1995. A potential catalytic site revealed by the 1.7-Å crystal structure of the amino-terminal signalling domain of Sonic hedgehog. *Nature* 378(6553):212–16
- Hall TM, Porter JA, Young KE, Koonin EV, Beachy PA, Leahy DJ. 1997. Crystal structure of a Hedgehog autoprocessing domain: homology between Hedgehog and self-splicing proteins. *Cell* 91(1):85–97
- Han C, Belenkaya TY, Wang B, Lin X. 2004. Drosophila glypicans control the cell-to-cell movement of Hedgehog by a dynamin-independent process. Development 131(3):601–11
- Harvey MC, Fleet A, Okolowsky N, Hamel PA. 2014. Distinct effects of the mesenchymal dysplasia gene variant of murine Patched-1 protein on canonical and non-canonical Hedgehog signaling pathways. *7. Biol. Chem.* 289(15):10939–49
- Hollway GE, Maule J, Gautier P, Evans TM, Keenan DG, et al. 2006. Scube2 mediates Hedgehog signalling in the zebrafish embryo. *Dev. Biol.* 294(1):104–18
- Holtz AM, Griffiths SC, Davis SJ, Bishop B, Siebold C, Allen BL. 2015. Secreted HHIP1 interacts with heparan sulfate and regulates Hedgehog ligand localization and function. *J. Cell Biol.* 209(5):739–57
- Holtz AM, Peterson KA, Nishi Y, Morin S, Song JY, et al. 2013. Essential role for ligand-dependent feedback antagonism of vertebrate hedgehog signaling by PTCH1, PTCH2 and HHIP1 during neural patterning. *Development* 140(16):3423–34
- Hooper JE, Scott MP. 1989. The Drosophila patched gene encodes a putative membrane protein required for segmental patterning. Cell 59(4):751–65
- Huang P, Nedelcu D, Watanabe M, Jao C, Kim Y, et al. 2016. Cellular cholesterol directly activates Smoothened in Hedgehog signaling. *Cell* 166(5):1176–87.e14
- Huangfu D, Anderson KV. 2005. Cilia and Hedgehog responsiveness in the mouse. *PNAS* 102(32):11325-30
- Huangfu D, Anderson KV. 2006. Signaling from Smo to Ci/Gli: conservation and divergence of Hedgehog pathways from *Drosophila* to vertebrates. *Development* 133(1):3–14
- Incardona JP, Lee JH, Robertson CP, Enga K, Kapur RP, Roelink H. 2000. Receptor-mediated endocytosis of soluble and membrane-tethered Sonic hedgehog by Patched-1. PNAS 97(22):12044–49
- Ingham PW, McMahon AP. 2001. Hedgehog signaling in animal development: paradigms and principles. Genes Dev. 15(23):3059–87
- Ingham PW, Nakano Y, Seger C. 2011. Mechanisms and functions of Hedgehog signalling across the metazoa. Nat. Rev. Genet. 12(6):393–406
- Ingham PW, Nystedt S, Nakano Y, Brown W, Stark D, et al. 2000. Patched represses the Hedgehog signalling pathway by promoting modification of the Smoothened protein. *Curr. Biol.* 10(20):1315–18
- Ingham PW, Taylor AM, Nakano Y. 1991. Role of the Drosophila patched gene in positional signalling. Nature 353(6340):184–87
- Izzi L, Lévesque M, Morin S, Laniel D, Wilkes BC, et al. 2011. Boc and Gas1 each form distinct Shh receptor complexes with Ptch1 and are required for Shh-mediated cell proliferation. *Dev. Cell* 20(6):788–801
- Janda CY, Waghray D, Levin AM, Thomas C, Garcia KC. 2012. Structural basis of Wnt recognition by Frizzled. *Science* 337(6090):59–64
- Jeong J, McMahon AP. 2002. Cholesterol modification of Hedgehog family proteins. J. Clin. Investig. 110(5):591–96
- Johnson J-LFA, Hall TE, Dyson JM, Sonntag C, Ayers K, et al. 2012. Scube activity is necessary for Hedgehog signal transduction in vivo. Dev. Biol. 368(2):193–202
- Johnson RL, Milenkovic L, Scott MP. 2000. In vivo functions of the Patched protein: requirement of the C terminus for target gene inactivation but not Hedgehog sequestration. *Mol. Cell* 6(2):467–78
- Johnson RL, Zhou L, Bailey EC. 2002. Distinct consequences of sterol sensor mutations in *Drosophila* and mouse *patched* homologs. *Dev. Biol.* 242(2):224–35
- Kawakami A, Nojima Y, Toyoda A, Takahoko M, Satoh M, et al. 2005. The zebrafish-secreted matrix protein You/Scube2 is implicated in long-range regulation of Hedgehog signaling. *Curr. Biol.* 15(5):480–88

Kawakami T, Kawcak T, Li Y-J, Zhang W, Hu Y, Chuang P-T. 2002. Mouse dispatched mutants fail to distribute hedgehog proteins and are defective in hedgehog signaling. *Development* 129(24):5753–65

- Khaliullina H, Panáková D, Eugster C, Riedel F, Carvalho M, Eaton S. 2009. Patched regulates Smoothened trafficking using lipoprotein-derived lipids. *Development* 136(24):4111–21
- Klein C, Zwick A, Kissel S, Forster CU, Pfeifer D, et al. 2016. Ptch2 loss drives myeloproliferation and myeloproliferative neoplasm progression. J. Exp. Med. 213(2):273–90
- Kohtz JD, Lee HY, Gaiano N, Segal J, Ng E, et al. 2001. N-terminal fatty-acylation of Sonic hedgehog enhances the induction of rodent ventral forebrain neurons. *Development* 128(12):2351–63
- Konitsiotis AD, Chang S-C, Jovanovic B, Ciepla P, Masumoto N, et al. 2014. Attenuation of hedgehog acyltransferase-catalyzed Sonic hedgehog palmitoylation causes reduced signaling, proliferation and invasiveness of human carcinoma cells. PLOS ONE 9(3):e89899
- Kwon HJ, Abi-Mosleh L, Wang ML, Deisenhofer J, Goldstein JL, et al. 2009. Structure of N-terminal domain of NPC1 reveals distinct subdomains for binding and transfer of cholesterol. *Cell* 137(7):1213–24
- Kwong L, Bijlsma MF, Roelink H. 2014. Shh-mediated degradation of Hhip allows cell autonomous and non-cell autonomous Shh signalling. *Nat. Commun.* 5:4849
- Lee CS, Fan C. 2001. Embryonic expression patterns of the mouse and chick Gas1 genes. Mech. Dev. 101(1– 2):293–97
- Lee JD, Kraus P, Gaiano N, Nery S, Kohtz J, et al. 2001. An acylatable residue of Hedgehog is differentially required in *Drosophila* and mouse limb development. *Dev. Biol.* 233(1):122–36
- Lee JD, Treisman JE. 2001. Sightless has homology to transmembrane acyltransferases and is required to generate active Hedgehog protein. *Curr. Biol.* 11(14):1147–52
- Lee JJ, von Kessler DP, Parks S, Beachy PA. 1992. Secretion and localized transcription suggest a role in positional signaling for products of the segmentation gene hedgehog. *Cell* 71(1):33–50
- Lee Y, Miller HL, Russell HR, Boyd K, Curran T, McKinnon PJ. 2006. Patched2 modulates tumorigenesis in Patched1 heterozygous mice. *Cancer Res.* 66(14):6964–71
- Li X-Z, Nikaido H. 2009. Efflux-mediated drug resistance in bacteria: an update. Drugs 69(12):1555–1623
- Lin X. 2004. Functions of heparan sulfate proteoglycans in cell signaling during development. *Development* 131(24):6009–21
- Lin X, Wei G, Shi Z, Dryer L, Esko JD, et al. 2000. Disruption of gastrulation and heparan sulfate biosynthesis in EXT1-deficient mice. *Dev. Biol.* 224(2):299–311
- Lu X, Liu S, Kornberg TB. 2006. The C-terminal tail of the Hedgehog receptor Patched regulates both localization and turnover. *Genes Dev.* 20(18):2539–51
- Luchetti G, Sircar R, Kong JH, Nachtergaele S, Sagner A, et al. 2016. Cholesterol activates the G-protein coupled receptor Smoothened to promote Hedgehog signaling. *eLife* 5:1055
- Lum L, Yao S, Mozer B, Rovescalli A, Von Kessler D, et al. 2003. Identification of Hedgehog pathway components by RNAi in *Drosophila* cultured cells. *Science* 299(5615):2039–45
- Ma Y, Erkner A, Gong R, Yao S, Taipale J, et al. 2002. Hedgehog-mediated patterning of the mammalian embryo requires transporter-like function of dispatched. *Cell* 111(1):63–75
- Mann RK, Beachy PA. 2000. Cholesterol modification of proteins. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1529(1-3):188-202
- Marigo V, Davey RA, Zuo Y, Cunningham JM, Tabin CJ. 1996. Biochemical evidence that Patched is the Hedgehog receptor. *Nature* 384(6605):176–79
- Marigo V, Tabin CJ. 1996. Regulation of *Patched* by Sonic hedgehog in the developing neural tube. *PNAS* 93(18):9346–51
- Martín V, Carrillo G, Torroja C, Guerrero I. 2001. The sterol-sensing domain of Patched protein seems to control Smoothened activity through Patched vesicular trafficking. *Curr. Biol.* 11(8):601–7
- Martinelli DC, Fan C-M. 2007. Gas1 extends the range of Hedgehog action by facilitating its signaling. Genes Dev. 21(10):1231–43
- Martinelli DC, Fan C-M. 2009. A Sonic hedgehog missense mutation associated with holoprosencephaly causes defective binding to GAS1. J. Biol. Chem. 284(29):19169–72
- Matusek T, Wendler F, Polès S, Pizette S, D'Angelo G, et al. 2014. The ESCRT machinery regulates the secretion and long-range activity of Hedgehog. *Nature* 516(7529):99–103
- Maun HR, Wen X, Lingel A, de Sauvage FJ, Lazarus RA, et al. 2010. Hedgehog pathway antagonist 5E1 binds hedgehog at the pseudo-active site. *7. Biol. Chem.* 285(34):26570–80
- McLellan JS, Yao S, Zheng X, Geisbrecht BV, Ghirlando R, et al. 2006. Structure of a heparin-dependent complex of Hedgehog and Ihog. PNAS 103(46):17208–13

Pinpoints Patched as the Hedgehog receptor by showing direct binding between the two proteins.

- McLellan JS, Zheng X, Hauk G, Ghirlando R, Beachy PA, Leahy DJ. 2008. The mode of Hedgehog binding to Ihog homologues is not conserved across different phyla. *Nature* 455(7215):979–83
- Micchelli CA, The I, Selva E, Mogila V, Perrimon N. 2002. Rasp, a putative transmembrane acyltransferase, is required for Hedgehog signaling. *Development* 129(4):843–51
- Motoyama J, Heng H, Crackower MA, Takabatake T, Takeshima K, et al. 1998a. Overlapping and nonoverlapping Ptch2 expression with Shh during mouse embryogenesis. *Mech. Dev.* 78(1–2):81–84
- Motoyama J, Takabatake T, Takeshima K, Hui C. 1998b. Ptch2, a second mouse Patched gene is co-expressed with Sonic hedgehog. Nat. Genet. 18(2):104–6
- Murone M, Rosenthal A, de Sauvage FJ. 1999. Sonic hedgehog signaling by the Patched-Smoothened receptor complex. Curr. Biol. 9(2):76–84
- Myers BR, Sever N, Chong YC, Kim J, Belani JD, et al. 2013. Hedgehog pathway modulation by multiple lipid binding sites on the smoothened effector of signal response. *Dev. Cell* 26(4):346–57
- Nachtergaele S, Whalen DM, Mydock LK, Zhao Z, Malinauskas T, et al. 2013. Structure and function of the Smoothened extracellular domain in vertebrate Hedgehog signaling. *eLife* 2:e01340
- Nakano Y, Guerrero I, Hidalgo A, Taylor A, Whittle JR, Ingham PW. 1989. A protein with several possible membrane-spanning domains encoded by the *Drosophila* segment polarity gene *patched*. *Nature* 341(6242):508–13
- Nakano Y, Kim HR, Kawakami A, Roy S, Schier AF, Ingham PW. 2004. Inactivation of *dispatched 1* by the *chameleon* mutation disrupts Hedgehog signalling in the zebrafish embryo. *Dev. Biol.* 269(2):381–92
- Nedelcu D, Liu J, Xu Y, Jao C, Salic A. 2013. Oxysterol binding to the extracellular domain of Smoothened in Hedgehog signaling. Nat. Chem. Biol. 9(9):557–64
- Okada A, Charron F, Morin S, Shin DS, Wong K, et al. 2006. Boc is a receptor for Sonic hedgehog in the guidance of commissural axons. *Nature* 444(7117):369–73
- Palm W, Swierczynska MM, Kumari V, Ehrhart-Bornstein M, Bornstein SR, Eaton S. 2013. Secretion and signaling activities of lipoprotein-associated hedgehog and non-sterol-modified hedgehog in flies and mammals. PLOS Biol. 11(3):e1001505
- Panáková D, Sprong H, Marois E, Thiele C, Eaton S. 2005. Lipoprotein particles are required for Hedgehog and Wingless signalling. *Nature* 435(7038):58–65
- Parchure A, Vyas N, Ferguson C, Parton RG, Mayor S. 2015. Oligomerization and endocytosis of Hedgehog is necessary for its efficient exovesicular secretion. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 26(25):4700–17
- Pepinsky RB, Rayhorn P, Day ES, Dergay A, Williams KP, et al. 2000. Mapping Sonic hedgehog-receptor interactions by steric interference. 7. Biol. Chem. 275(15):10995–1001
- Pepinsky RB, Zeng C, Wen D, Rayhorn P, Baker DP, et al. 1998. Identification of a palmitic acid-modified form of human Sonic hedgehog. J. Biol. Chem. 273(22):14037–45
- Petrova E, Rios-Esteves J, Ouerfelli O, Glickman JF, Resh MD. 2013. Inhibitors of Hedgehog acyltransferase block Sonic hedgehog signaling. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 9(4):247–49
- Pineda-Alvarez DE, Roessler E, Hu P, Srivastava K, Solomon BD, et al. 2011. Missense substitutions in the GAS1 protein present in holoprosencephaly patients reduce the affinity for its ligand, SHH. *Hum. Genet*. 131(2):301–10
- Porter JA, Ekker SC, Park WJ, von Kessler DP, Young KE, et al. 1996a. Hedgehog patterning activity: role of a lipophilic modification mediated by the carboxy-terminal autoprocessing domain. *Cell* 86(1):21–34
- Porter JA, von Kessler DP, Ekker SC, Young KE, Lee JJ, et al. 1995. The product of *hedgehog* autoproteolytic cleavage active in local and long-range signalling. *Nature* 374(6520):363–66
- Porter JA, Young KE, Beachy PA. 1996b. Cholesterol modification of Hedgehog signaling proteins in animal development. Science 274(5285):255–59
- Pos KM. 2009. Drug transport mechanism of the AcrB efflux pump. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1794(5):782-93
- Rahnama F, Toftgård R, Zaphiropoulos PG. 2004. Distinct roles of PTCH2 splice variants in Hedgehog signalling. *Biochem. J.* 378(Pt 2):325–34
- Ramírez-Weber FA, Kornberg TB. 1999. Cytonemes: cellular processes that project to the principal signaling center in *Drosophila* imaginal discs. *Cell* 97(5):599–607
- Rana R, Carroll CE, Lee H-J, Bao J, Marada S, et al. 2013. Structural insights into the role of the Smoothened cysteine-rich domain in Hedgehog signalling. *Nat. Commun.* 4:2965

Demonstrates that the Hedgehog ligand is covalently attached to cholesterol.

- Roberts B, Casillas C, Alfaro AC, Jägers C, Roelink H, Bronner ME. 2016. Patched1 and Patched2 inhibit Smoothened non-cell autonomously. *eLife* 5:e17634
- Roelink H, Augsburger A, Heemskerk J, Korzh V. 1994. Floor plate and motor neuron induction by *vhb-1*, a vertebrate homolog of *hedgehog* expressed by the notochord. *Cell* 76:761–75
- Roelink H, Porter JA, Chiang C, Tanabe Y, Chang DT, et al. 1995. Floor plate and motor neuron induction by different concentrations of the amino-terminal cleavage product of Sonic hedgehog autoproteolysis. *Cell* 81(3):445–55
- Rohatgi R, Milenkovic L, Scott MP. 2007. Patched1 regulates Hedgehog signaling at the primary cilium. Science 317(5836):372–76
- Rosti K, Goldman A, Kajander T. 2015. Solution structure and biophysical characterization of the multifaceted signalling effector protein growth arrest specific-1. BMC Biochem. 16(1):8
- Rubin JB, Choi Y, Segal RA. 2002. Cerebellar proteoglycans regulate sonic hedgehog responses during development. Development 129(9):2223–32
- Sanders TA, Llagostera E, Barna M. 2013. Specialized filopodia direct long-range transport of SHH during vertebrate tissue patterning. *Nature* 497(7451):628–32
- Sarrazin S, Lamanna WC, Esko JD. 2011. Heparan sulfate proteoglycans. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3(7):a004952
- Seeger MA, Schiefner A, Eicher T, Verrey F, Diederichs K, Pos KM. 2006. Structural asymmetry of AcrB trimer suggests a peristaltic pump mechanism. *Science* 313(5791):1295–98
- Sever N, Mann RK, Xu L, Snell WJ, Hernandez-Lara CI, et al. 2016. Endogenous B-ring oxysterols inhibit the Hedgehog component Smoothened in a manner distinct from cyclopamine or side-chain oxysterols. PNAS 113(21):5904–9
- Song JY, Holtz AM, Pinskey JM, Allen BL. 2015. Distinct structural requirements for CDON and BOC in the promotion of hedgehog signaling. *Dev. Biol.* 402(2):239–52
- Stebel M, Vatta P, Ruaro ME, Del Sal G, Parton RG, et al. 2000. The growth suppressed gas1 product is a GPI-linked protein. FEBS Lett. 481(2):152–58
- Stone DM, Hynes M, Armanini M, Swanson TA, Gu Q, et al. 1996. The tumour-suppressor gene patched encodes a candidate receptor for Sonic hedgehog. Nature 384(6605):129–34
- Su C-C, Li M, Gu R, Takatsuka Y, McDermott G, et al. 2006. Conformation of the AcrB multidrug efflux pump in mutants of the putative proton relay pathway. *J. Bacteriol.* 188(20):7290–96
- Tabata T, Kornberg TB. 1994. Hedgehog is a signaling protein with a key role in patterning *Drosophila* imaginal discs. *Cell* 76(1):89–102
- Taipale J, Cooper MK, Maiti T, Beachy PA. 2002. Patched acts catalytically to suppress the activity of Smoothened. Nature 418(6900):892–97
- Taylor AM, Nakano Y, Mohler J, Ingham PW. 1993. Contrasting distributions of patched and hedgehog proteins in the *Drosophila* embryo. *Mech. Dev.* 42(1–2):89–96
- Tenzen T, Allen BL, Cole F, Kang J-S, Krauss RS, McMahon AP. 2006. The cell surface membrane proteins Cdo and Boc are components and targets of the Hedgehog signaling pathway and feedback network in mice. Dev. Cell 10(5):647–56
- The I, Bellaiche Y, Perrimon N. 1999. Hedgehog movement is regulated through *tout velu*-dependent synthesis of a heparan sulfate proteoglycan. *Mol. Cell* 4(4):633–39
- Tian H, Jeong J, Harfe BD, Tabin CJ, McMahon AP. 2005. Mouse Disp1 is required in sonic hedgehogexpressing cells for paracrine activity of the cholesterol-modified ligand. *Development* 132(1):133–42
- Torroja C, Gorfinkiel N, Guerrero I. 2004. Patched controls the Hedgehog gradient by endocytosis in a dynamin-dependent manner, but this internalization does not play a major role in signal transduction. *Development* 131(10):2395–408
- Tseng TT, Gratwick KS, Kollman J, Park D, Nies DH, et al. 1999. The RND permease superfamily: an ancient, ubiquitous and diverse family that includes human disease and development proteins. *J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 1(1):107–25
- Tukachinsky H, Kuzmickas RP, Jao CY, Liu J, Salic A. 2012. Dispatched and Scube mediate the efficient secretion of the cholesterol-modified Hedgehog ligand. *Cell Rep.* 2(2):308–20
- Tukachinsky H, Petrov K, Watanabe M, Salic A. 2016. Mechanism of inhibition of the tumor suppressor Patched by Sonic Hedgehog. PNAS 113(40):E5866–75

167

- van Eeden FJ, Granato M, Schach U, Brand M, Furutani-Seiki M, et al. 1996. Mutations affecting somite formation and patterning in the zebrafish, *Danio rerio. Development* 123:153–64
- Varjosalo M, Taipale J. 2008. Hedgehog: functions and mechanisms. Genes Dev. 22(18):2454-72
- Vyas N, Goswami D, Manonmani A, Sharma P, Ranganath HA, et al. 2008. Nanoscale organization of Hedgehog is essential for long-range signaling. *Cell* 133(7):1214–27
- Wang C, Wu H, Evron T, Vardy E, Han GW, et al. 2014. Structural basis for Smoothened receptor modulation and chemoresistance to anticancer drugs. *Nat. Commun.* 5:4355
- Wang C, Wu H, Katritch V, Han GW, Huang X-P, et al. 2013. Structure of the human smoothened receptor bound to an antitumour agent. *Nature* 497(7449):338–43
- Wang Q, Pernow J. 2002. Pharmacological possibilities for protection against myocardial reperfusion injury. Cardiovasc. Res. 55(1):25–37
- Weierstall U, James D, Wang C, White TA, Wang D, et al. 2014. Lipidic cubic phase injector facilitates membrane protein serial femtosecond crystallography. *Nat. Commun.* 5:3309
- Whalen DM, Malinauskas T, Gilbert RJC, Siebold C. 2013. Structural insights into proteoglycan-shaped Hedgehog signaling. PNAS 110(41):16420–25
- Wilkinson B, Gilbert HF. 2004. Protein disulfide isomerase. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1699(1-2):35-44
- Williams EH, Pappano WN, Saunders AM, Kim M-S, Leahy DJ, Beachy PA. 2010. Dally-like core protein and its mammalian homologues mediate stimulatory and inhibitory effects on Hedgehog signal response. *PNAS* 107(13):5869–74
- Williams KP, Rayhorn P, Chi-Rosso G, Garber EA, Strauch KL, et al. 1999. Functional antagonists of sonic hedgehog reveal the importance of the N terminus for activity. J. Cell Sci. 112(Pt 23):4405–14
- Wilson CW, Chen M-H, Chuang P-T. 2009. Smoothened adopts multiple active and inactive conformations capable of trafficking to the primary cilium. *PLOS ONE* 4(4):e5182
- Woods IG, Talbot WS. 2005. The you gene encodes an EGF-CUB protein essential for Hedgehog signaling in zebrafish. PLOS Biol. 3(3):e66
- Yan D, Wu Y, Yang Y, Belenkaya TY, Tang X, Lin X. 2010. The cell-surface proteins Dally-like and Ihog differentially regulate Hedgehog signaling strength and range during development. *Development* 137(12):2033–44
- Yao S, Lum L, Beachy P. 2006. The Ihog cell-surface proteins bind Hedgehog and mediate pathway activation. Cell 125(2):343–57
- Yu EW, McDermott G, Zgurskaya HI, Nikaido H, Koshland DE. 2003. Structural basis of multiple drugbinding capacity of the AcrB multidrug efflux pump. Science 300(5621):976–80
- Zeng X, Goetz JA, Suber LM, Scott WJ, Schreiner CM, Robbins DJ. 2001. A freely diffusible form of Sonic hedgehog mediates long-range signalling. *Nature* 411(6838):716–20
- Zhang W, Kang J-S, Cole F, Yi M-J, Krauss RS. 2006. Cdo functions at multiple points in the Sonic hedgehog pathway, and Cdo-deficient mice accurately model human holoprosencephaly. Dev. Cell 10(5):657–65
- Zheng X, Mann RK, Sever N, Beachy PA. 2010. Genetic and biochemical definition of the Hedgehog receptor. Genes Dev. 24(1):57–71
- Zhu AJ, Zheng L, Suyama K, Scott MP. 2003. Altered localization of *Drosophila* Smoothened protein activates Hedgehog signal transduction. *Genes Dev.* 17(10):1240–52
- Zhulyn O, Nieuwenhuis E, Liu YC, Angers S, Hui C-C. 2015. Ptch2 shares overlapping functions with Ptch1 in Smo regulation and limb development. *Dev. Biol.* 397(2):191–202

ANNUAL REVIEWS



ONLINE NOW!

New From Annual Reviews:

Annual Review of Cancer Biology cancerbio.annualreviews.org · Volume 1 · March 2017

Co-Editors: Tyler Jacks, Massachusetts Institute of Technology

Charles L. Sawyers, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center

The Annual Review of Cancer Biology reviews a range of subjects representing important and emerging areas in the field of cancer research. The Annual Review of Cancer Biology includes three broad themes: Cancer Cell Biology, Tumorigenesis and Cancer Progression, and Translational Cancer Science.

TABLE OF CONTENTS FOR VOLUME 1:

- How Tumor Virology Evolved into Cancer Biology and Transformed Oncology, Harold Varmus and and
- The Role of Autophagy in Cancer, Naiara Santana-Codina, Joseph D. Mancias, Alec C. Kimmelman
- Cell Cycle–Targeted Cancer Therapies, Charles J. Sherr, Jiri Bartek
- Ubiquitin in Cell-Cycle Regulation and Dysregulation in Cancer, Natalie A. Borg, Vishva M. Dixit
- The Two Faces of Reactive Oxygen Species in Cancer, Colleen R. Reczek, Navdeep S. Chandel
- Analyzing Tumor Metabolism In Vivo, Brandon Faubert, Ralph J. DeBerardinis
- Stress-Induced Mutagenesis: Implications in Cancer and Drug Resistance, Devon M. Fitzgerald, P.J. Hastings, Susan M. Rosenberg
- Synthetic Lethality in Cancer Therapeutics, Roderick L. Beijersbergen, Lodewyk F.A. Wessels, René Bernards
- Noncoding RNAs in Cancer Development, Chao-Po Lin, Lin He
- *p53: Multiple Facets of a Rubik's Cube*, Yun Zhang, Guillermina Lozano
- Resisting Resistance, Ivana Bozic, Martin A. Nowak
- Deciphering Genetic Intratumor Heterogeneity and Its Impact on Cancer Evolution, Rachel Rosenthal, Nicholas McGranahan, Javier Herrero, Charles Swanton

- Immune-Suppressing Cellular Elements of the Tumor Microenvironment, Douglas T. Fearon
- Overcoming On-Target Resistance to Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in Lung Cancer, Ibiayi Dagogo-Jack, Jeffrey A. Engelman, Alice T. Shaw
- Apoptosis and Cancer, Anthony Letai
- Chemical Carcinogenesis Models of Cancer: Back to the Future, Melissa Q. McCreery, Allan Balmain
- Extracellular Matrix Remodeling and Stiffening Modulate Tumor Phenotype and Treatment Response, Jennifer L. Leight, Allison P. Drain, Valerie M. Weaver
- Aneuploidy in Cancer: Seq-ing Answers to Old Questions, Kristin A. Knouse, Teresa Davoli, Stephen J. Elledge, Angelika Amon
- The Role of Chromatin-Associated Proteins in Cancer, Kristian Helin, Saverio Minucci
- Targeted Differentiation Therapy with Mutant IDH Inhibitors: Early Experiences and Parallels with Other Differentiation Agents, Eytan Stein, Katharine Yen
- Determinants of Organotropic Metastasis, Heath A. Smith, Yibin Kang
- Multiple Roles for the MLL/COMPASS Family in the Epigenetic Regulation of Gene Expression and in Cancer, Joshua J. Meeks, Ali Shilatifard
- Chimeric Antigen Receptors: A Paradigm Shift in Immunotherapy, Michel Sadelain

ANNUAL REVIEWS | CONNECT WITH OUR EXPERTS

650.493.4400/800.523.8635 (us/can) www.annualreviews.org | service@annualreviews.org

R



Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology

Volume 33, 2017

Contents

Assessing the Contributions of Motor Enzymes and Microtubule Dynamics to Mitotic Chromosome Motions <i>J. Richard McIntosh</i>
Centriole Biogenesis: From Identifying the Characters to Understanding the Plot <i>Niccolò Banterle and Pierre Gönczy</i>
Microtubule-Organizing Centers Jingchao Wu and Anna Akhmanova
Cell Polarity in Yeast Jian-geng Chiou, Mohan K. Balasubramanian, and Daniel J. Lew
Excitable Signal Transduction Networks in Directed Cell Migration Peter N. Devreotes, Sayak Bhattacharya, Marc Edwards, Pablo A. Iglesias, Thomas Lampert, and Yuchuan Miao
Cell Removal: Efferocytosis Peter M. Henson
Sending and Receiving Hedgehog Signals Kostadin Petrov, Bradley M. Wierbowski, and Adrian Salic
Cell Sheet Morphogenesis: Dorsal Closure in <i>Drosophila melanogaster</i> as a Model System Daniel P. Kiehart, Janice M. Crawford, Andreas Aristotelous, Stephanos Venakides, and Glenn S. Edwards
Lessons from Interspecies Mammalian Chimeras Fabian Suchy and Hiromitsu Nakauchi
Temporal Patterning in the <i>Drosophila</i> CNS <i>Chris Q. Doe</i>

Unconventional Roles of Opsins Nicole Y. Leung and Craig Montell
The Three-Dimensional Organization of Mammalian Genomes Miao Yu and Bing Ren 265
The Inherent Asymmetry of DNA ReplicationJonathan Snedeker, Matthew Wooten, and Xin Chen291
Rethinking m ⁶ A Readers, Writers, and Erasers Kate D. Meyer and Samie R. Jaffrey 319
Ribosomal Stalling During Translation: Providing Substrates for Ribosome-Associated Protein Quality Control <i>Claudio A.P. Joazeiro</i>
Structural and Mechanistic Insights into Protein Translocation Tom A. Rapoport, Long Li, and Eunyong Park
In Search of Lost Small Peptides Serge Plaza, Gerben Menschaert, and François Payre
Mechanisms of Tail-Anchored Membrane Protein Targeting and Insertion Un Seng Chio, Hyunju Cho, and Shu-ou Shan
Coping with Protein Quality Control Failure Esther Pilla, Kim Schneider, and Anne Bertolotti
Proteostatic Tactics in the Strategy of Sterol Regulation Margaret A. Wangeline, Nidhi Vashistha, and Randolph Y. Hampton
Lipid Droplet Biogenesis Tobias C. Walther, Jeeyun Chung, and Robert V. Farese Jr
Unconventional or Preset αβ T Cells: Evolutionarily Conserved Tissue-Resident T Cells Recognizing Nonpeptidic Ligands <i>Francois Legoux, Marion Salou, and Olivier Lantz</i>
How Single-Cell Genomics Is Changing Evolutionary and Developmental Biology John C. Marioni and Detlev Arendt
The <i>FLC</i> Locus: A Platform for Discoveries in Epigenetics and Adaptation <i>Charles Whittaker and Caroline Dean</i>
Sex and Gender Differences in the Outcomes of Vaccination over the Life Course <i>Katie L. Flanagan, Ashley L. Fink, Magdalena Plebanski,</i>
and Sabra L. Klein